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PER CURIAM.

FPantiff Chester E. Glover, an inmate of the Huron Vdley Men's Facility (HVMF), appedls as
of right from an order of the Washtenaw Circuit Court granting summary dispostion, pursuant to MCR
2.116(C)(7) and (10), of his civil rights action in favor of defendant. Plaintiff contends that the court
erred when it found that he had failed to establish factud issues to support his clams of retdiation for the
exercise of his condtitutiond right to petition for redress of his grievances. We disagree and affirm the
order of the circuit court.

Paintiff was an employee assgned to the HYMF Food Service Building. Early on the morning
of September 4, 1996, plaintiff reported for work as assigned and was asked by his supervisor,
Angdina Godoy, to empty food trays in the dish tank area.  According to plaintiff, he attempted to
comply with her directives but upon doing so noticed that the garbage can normaly set out for that
purpose had been removed. Upon inquiring of Godoy as to the wheregbouts of the can, plaintiff was
informed by her that she had taken the can for use under the food serving line counter. Plaintiff
contends that as he attempted to retrieve the can Godoy cursed him and stated, “where are you going
with that can.” Plaintiff dleges that he did not respond to these comments and placed the can back
under the counter where he had found it. Plaintiff contends that Godoy then gpproached him and stated
that if he needed a garbage can he should find one of hisown. Plantiff clams to have responded by
informing Godoy that removing the can from the dish tank area created a problem because it dowed
down the performance of his duties. According to plaintiff, Godoy again cursed him, & which point he
requested that she refrain from
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referring to him in that manner and returned to the dish tank area. Severd minutes later, Godoy again
gpproached plaintiff and told him to return to his cdl because he was being “laid in.” Paintiff aleges
that upon returning to his cdl he immediately wrote a grievance wherein he complained of the above-
described incident with Godoy.

Paintiff aleges that at gpproximatey 11:00 am. that same day, he was gpproached by two
corrections officers who served him with a copy of a misconduct report, filed by Godoy, charging him
with threstening behavior regarding the incident in the dining room. Plantiff was then removed from his
cdl and placed in adminigrative segregation. According to the report filed by Godoy, plaintiff, upon
redlizing that she had removed the garbage can from the dish tank area, angrily kicked the can in her
direction while pointing hisfinger in her face and ydling, “If you want a garbage container, get it yoursdf
and don't get it from ours” Godoy reported that plaintiff’s conduct darmed her and caused her to fear
for her sfety.

Faintiff remained in administrative segregation until September 6, 1996, & which time he was
given a hearing regarding the misconduct report filed by Godoy. After reviewing the hearing
investigation report with plaintiff, the hearing officer found plaintiff guilty of insolence and sanctioned him
with saven days loss of privileges and two days of adminidrative segregeation. Plaintiff received credit
for the two days aready served in segregation.

On September 7, 1996, plaintiff returned to his work assgnment in the Food Services Building
where he contends that Godoy continued to harass and humiliate him. Faintiff further dleges that on
September 11, 1996, he received a poor work evauation report authored by Godoy for which he filed
a second grievance dleging that both the evauation and the misconduct report filed by Godoy were
“false and fabricated” harassment designed to cause him to lose hiswork assgnment. In addition to this
grievance, plaintiff wrote letters to both Andrew Jackson, HVMF s warden, and Kenneth McGinnis,
Director of the Michigan Department of Corrections, outlining his concerns over the problems he had
alegedly been having with Godoy. Jackson referred plaintiff’ sletter to Tom Gadardi, HVMF s business
manager, for investigation.

Plaintiff aleges that on September 16, 1996, Godoy approached him and asked to speak with
him regarding his grievances. The following day, plaintiff was informed that he was being removed from
his food service work assgnment pending Galardi's investigetion.  Plaintiff then filed a third grievance
restating the dlegations made in the previous two.

In conducting hisinvestigation, Gaardi, ong with S. Ricciardi, HVMF s food services director,
reviewed plaintiff’s record office file and al of his work assgnment evauations, and spoke with other
prisoners and food service supervisors regarding the dlegations made by plaintiff. In amemorandum to
Jackson, Gaardi noted that plaintiff had previoudy been terminated from his food service work
assgnment for fighting, and further commented that severd food service supervisors other than Godoy
had noted a need for plaintiff to improve his temperament. Based upon these findings, as well as his
personad knowledge of Godoy's work ethics, Gaardi concluded that plaintiff's dlegations were
unsubstantiated.  Plaintiff was terminated from his work assgnment on September 18, 1996. On
September 25, 1996, plaintiff authored a second letter to Jackson, criticizing the investigation conducted
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by Gdardi.

Severd months later plaintiff filed the ingtant suit, under 42 USC 1983, in which he dams
Godoy, Jackson, Galardi, and Ricciardi violated his condtitutiond rights. Essentidly, plaintiff dams thet
Godoy issued the “false and fabricated” misconduct report and work assignment evaluations, and had
him terminated from his employment, in retdiation for hisfiling of grievances againg her. Flantiff further
asserts that Jackson, Gaardi, and Ricciardi acted with ddiberate indifference toward Godoy's
condtitutiondl violations.

Defendant moved for summary disposition. Pursuant to MCR 2.119(E)(3) the court dispensed
with ord argument, and in a written opinion and order granted summary dispostion in favor of
defendant. The court found that, dthough plaintiff had met his burden of asserting a violation of aclearly
established condtitutiond right, he had faled to establish factud issues regarding the aleged violation.
Paintiff gppedsfrom this order.

Although defendant's motion for summary dispostion was brought pursuant to MCR
2.116(C)(8), the lower court appears to have relied upon MCR 2.116(C)(7) and (10) in granting
summary dispostion, finding that plantiff tad faled to establish factud issues regarding the clamed
violation of his condtitutiond rights and further holding that the individua defendants were entitled to
qudified immunity. On gpped, plaintiff asserts no error regarding immunity, merely arguing the merits of
the court’s finding that no factud issues were in dispute. In the proceedings below, defendant did
assart, in part, that summary disposition was gppropriate based upon plaintiff’s falure to establish a
genuine issue of fact for trid. Because it does not gppear that plaintiff was mided by the midabeing of
the motion for summary dispostion, and because plaintiff did not raise the issue on gpped, we will
review the lower court's decison under the sandard set for the grant of a motion for summary
disposition based upon no genuine issue of materid fact. See Mollet v City of Taylor, 197 Mich App
328, 332; 494 Nw2d 832 (1992).

This Court reviews atrid court’s decison on amotion for summary dispostion de novo. Miller
v Farm Bureau Mutual Ins Co, 218 Mich App 221, 233; 553 NW2d 371 (1996). In reviewing an
order granting summary dispostion under MCR 2.116(C)(10), we must examine al reevant
documentary evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party to determine whether a
genuine issue of materid fact exists on which reasonable minds could differ. Shirilla v Detroit, 208
Mich App 434, 437; 528 NW2d 763 (1995).

Faintiff argues that he has successfully established issues of fact in support of his clam thet,
contrary to 42 USC 1983, defendant deprived him of his condtitutiond rights. Section 1983, provides a
remedy for condtitutiond violations committed by state actors. Specificdly, this section provides that

[€]very person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage,
of any State . . . subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or
other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or
immunities secured by the Condtitution and laws, shdl be liable to the party injured in an
action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress. [42 USC 1983.]
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In this case, the dleged conditutiond violation is in the form of a dam tha a public officer,
Angelina Godoy, retdiated againg plaintiff for exerciang his Firs Amendment right to redress for his
grievances.

The requirements for successfully bringing a claim of retdiation under 42 USC 1983 were most
recently set forth by the Sixth Circuit Court of Appedsin Thaddeus-X v Blatter, 175 F3d 378 (CA 6,
1999):

A retdiation cdam essentidly entalls three dements: (1) the plaintiff engaged in
protected conduct; (2) an adverse action was taken againg the plaintiff that would deter
aperson of ordinary firmness from continuing to engage in that conduct; and (3) there is
a causd connection between dements one and two--that is, the adverse action was
motivated at least in part by the plaintiff's protected conduct. [Id. at 394.]

Thus, the firs step in assessing plaintiff’s retdiation dam is to determine whether he was
engaged in protected conduct. “Absent protected conduct, plaintiff[] cannot establish a congtitutional
violation.” Id. at 395.

Although it is generdly more difficult for a prisoner to show tha his conduct is protected,
because prison regulations are dlowed to infringe on prisoners rights as long as they are rationaly
related to a legitimate penologica concern, it iswell established that “prisoners have a fundamentd right
of access to the courts and the right to petition for a redress of grievances” Ward v Dyke, 58 F3d
271, 275 (CA 6, 1995). Here, plantiff aleges that the misconduct ticket and his discharge from
employment were a direct result of his filing of grievances againg Godoy. Therefore, plaintiff was
engaged in protected conduct.

Smilarly, the facts dleged by plantiff support a finding that he has established the second
element of his retdiation clam, an adverse action. “[A]n adverse action is one that would 'deter a
person of ordinary firmness from the exercise of the right a stake” Thaddeus-X, supra at 396.
Determination as to whether the action complained of should be deemed adverse is an objective inquiry
that is to be tailored to the specific circumstances in which the retdiation clam arose. Thus, “[p]risoners
may be required to tolerate more . . . than average citizens, before an action taken againgt them is
consdered adverse.” Id. at 398. As such, the question in this case is whether a prisoner of ordinary
firmness would be deterred from exercising his right to petition for redress of grievances by the actions
taken againg plaintiff. Here, plantiff asserts that after he filed his first grievance, Godoy authored a
"fdse and fabricated" report that resulted in him being placed in administrative segregation for two days.
As noted by the court in Thaddeus-X, supra at 396, “[i]n the prison context, an action comparable to
transfer to adminigirative segregation would certainly be adverse” Plaintiff further assarts aloss of his
privilege to work based upon the grievances filed by him. Although prison inmates do not possess a
right to employment while incarcerated, the threet of losing the privilege to work could certainly “deter a
person of ordinary firmness’ from exercisng hisright to redress for grievances.

The third and find dement of a retdiation clam requires that plantiff demondrate a causd
connection between the protected conduct and the adverse action. Here, the subjective motivation of
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defendant isat issue. 1d. a 399. In establishing the causad connection, while “[c]ircumstantid evidence,
like thetiming of events. . . is gppropriate,” id., it is not necessarily dispositive of theissue. Inthiscase,
plantiff has asserted that immediatdy following his writing of a grievance againg Godoy, he was issued
a misconduct ticket for threatening behavior based upon the “fase and fabricated” report filed by
Godoy. In the proceedings below, however, defendant argued that the misconduct ticket was issued
before the grievance filed by plantiff, and that the grievance was written smply to “cover” the
wrongdoing of Godoy. While the report issued by Godoy indicates that it was written a 11:30 am. on
the day of the incident, the grievance filed by plaintiff merely indicates thet it wasfiled that same day.

There is nothing in the record to support plantiff’s dlegation that he in fact submitted the
grievance before the report filed by Godoy, and thus nothing to support afinding that the report wasin
retdiation for hisfiling of the grievance. To establish a genuine issue of materid fact regarding a causd
connection between the adverse action and protected conduct, plaintiff may not merely rely on
unsubstantiated dlegations, but, rather, must come forward with admissble evidence, affidavits, or other
evidentiary materids, demondrating the exisence of a factuad dispute. See MCR 2.116(G)(4).
Although plaintiff refers to affidavits that would support his verson of the facts, no such affidavits appear
in the lower court record and plaintiff has failed to otherwise provide them to this Court. Thus, there is
no evidence in the record before the Court establishing the factud issues dleged by plaintiff. See
Admiral Ins Co v Columbia Casualty Ins Co, 194 Mich App 300, 305; 486 NW2d 351 (1992).
Accordingly, plaintiff has faled to demonsrate a genuine issue of fact regarding the causal connection
between hisfiling of grievances and the misconduct ticket received by him.

Paintiff also asserts that other evidence demondrates that the loss of his work assgnment is
causdly connected to the exercise of his conditutiond right to redress. Again, this unsupported
assartion mudt fall. Essentidly, plantiff aleges that Godoy used false work assgnment evaluations as a
tool to wrongfully remove him from his work assgnment. Firg, it should be noted that the find
evauation terminating plaintiff from his assgnment on September 18, 1996, was not written by Godoy,
but rather by assgtant food services director Bryson. In that evauation, Bryson indicates that
termination was a result of prior ingances in which plantiff displayed an “explosve temperament” while
onwork assgnment. In response, plaintiff merdy offers his unsubstantiated and unsworn alegeations that
these evduations are “fase and fabricated,” and merely a ploy to have him terminated for the filing of
grievances. Even accepting these unsupported alegations as true, we conclude that no ratiord trier of
fact could find the requisite causa connection between the grievances and plaintiff’s termination. The
supervisor who terminated plaintiff had no involvement in the incident plaintiff grieved, but was rather a
passve observer who became involved in the matter two weeks after the origind grievance and after a
full invedtigation of plaintiff’s dlegations by the facility's business manager.

Accordingly, plaintiff has failed to present sufficient evidence to establish issues of fact regarding
acausa connection between the claimed adverse action and the protected conduct. The decision of the
trid court granting summary disposition of the retaiation clams should be affirmed.



As a find congderation we note that plaintiff, by faling to address the issue on goped, has
abandoned the question whether Jackson, Galardi, and Ricciardi were entitled to summary disposition
on his cdlam of ddiberate indifference. Great Lakes Div of Nat'| Steel Corp v City of Ecorse, 227

Mich App 379, 430; 576 NW2d 667 (1998)(when a party fails to address the merits of an issue, it is
deemed abandoned).

Affirmed.
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